COPY



MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS FILED

NOV 2 0 2009

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

## NO. 2009-CA-00802

## WILLIAM M. COVINGTON

**APPELLANT** 

## VERSUS

#### **CAROL MONTGOMERY (COVINGTON)**

APPELLEE

## **APPELLANT'S BRIEF**

## **ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED**

WILLIAM M. COVINGTON, III MS BAR NUMBER

WILLIAM M. COVINGTON, III ATTORNEY AT LAW POST OFFICE BOX 6394 DIAMONDHEAD, MS 39525 (228)586-6257 Email: wmc33@bellsouth.net

**Appellant, Pro Se** 

# MISSISSIPPI SUPREME COURT MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS

,

# NO. 2009-CA-00802

# WILLIAM M. COVINGTON

## APPELLANT

## VERSUS

## **CAROL MONTGOMERY (COVINGTON)**

## APPELLEE

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS	
ARGUMENT I	
THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY APPLYING THE V STANDARD, IN FAILING TO CONSIDER THE TOT	ALITY OF THE

CIRCUMSTANCES WHEN REVIEWING EVIDENCE OF INSTANCES OF NEGLECT AND OTHER CONDUCT DETRIMENTAL TO THE BEST INTERESTS OF THE MINOR CHILD.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY NOT INDEPENDENTLY EVALUATING THE EVIDENCE UNDER THE APPLICABLE LEGAL STANDARD, INSTEAD ALLOWING A FLAWED ANALYSIS TO BE PERFORMED BY A WITNESS, WHICH INCLUDED DETERMINATION OF QUESTIONS OF LAW, AND THEN ARBITRARILY RATIFIED THAT ANALYSIS, THEREBY IMPROPERLY DELEGATING TRIAL COURT DUTIES TO A THIRD PARTY WITNESS.

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO ELIMINATE APPELLANT'S PERIODIC ALIMONY OBLIGATION WHERE UNDISPUTED EVIDENCE OF COHABITATION WAS PRESENTED, AND WHERE APPELLEE OFFERED NO EVIDENCE TO REBUT THE PRESUMPTION OF FINANCIAL CO-DEPENDENCE DURING SAID COHABITATION.

CONCLUSION	
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE	
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE	

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

,

.

Duke v. Elmore, 956 So.2d 244 (Miss. 2006)
Fletcher v. Shaw, 800 So.2d 1212 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001)
Elliot v. Elliot, 877 So.2d 450 (Miss.Ct.App. 2003) 17
Gianarris v. Gianarris, 960 So.2d 462 (Miss. 2007) 15
Gilliland v. Gilliland, 984 So.2d 364 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008) 16
Glissen v. Glissen, 910 So.2d 603 (Miss.Ct.App. 2005) 19
Hill v. Hill, 942 So.3d 207 (Miss. 2006) 17
Jernigan v. Jernigan, 830 So.2d 651 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002) 18
Johnson v. Gray, 859 So.2d 1006 (Miss. 2003) 19
Porter v. Porter, 2006-CA-01592-COA (Miss. Ct. App. 2008)
Powell v. Powell, 976 So.2d 358 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008)
Pruett v. Prinz, 979 So.2d 745 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008) 20
Rester v. Rester, 5 So.3d 1132 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008)
Riley v. Doerner, 677 So.2d 740 (Miss. 1996) 15, 19, 20
Robison v. Lanford, 841 So.2d 1119 (Miss. 2003) 15
Savell v. Morrison, 929 So.2d 414 (Miss. 2006) 20
Schawarth v. Schawarth, 702 So.2d 1210 (Miss. 1997) 23
Tucker v. Tucker, 453 So.2d 1294 (Miss. 1984) 17

# **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

- 1. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY APPLYING THE WRONG LEGAL STANDARD, IN FAILING TO CONSIDER THE TOTALITY OF THE CIRCUMSTANCES WHEN REVIEWING EVIDENCE OF INSTANCES OF NEGLECT AND OTHER CONDUCT DETRIMENTAL TO THE BEST INTERESTS OF THE MINOR CHILD.
- 2. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY NOT INDEPENDENTLY EVALUATING THE EVIDENCE UNDER THE APPLICABLE LEGAL STANDARD, INSTEAD ALLOWING A FLAWED ANALYSIS TO BE PERFORMED BY A WITNESS, WHICH INCLUDED DETERMINATION OF QUESTIONS OF LAW, AND THEN ARBITRARILY RATIFIED THAT ANALYSIS, THEREBY IMPROPERLY DELEGATING TRIAL COURT DUTIES TO A THIRD PARTY WITNESS.
- 3. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO ELIMINATE APPELLANT'S PERIODIC ALIMONY OBLIGATION WHERE UNDISPUTED EVIDENCE OF COHABITATION WAS PRESENTED, AND WHERE APPELLEE OFFERED NO EVIDENCE TO REBUT THE PRESUMPTION OF FINANCIAL CO-DEPENDENCE DURING SAID COHABITATION.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises out of an agreed divorce granted on grounds of irreconcilable differences in 2005. As part of the divorce, the parties entered into a Child Custody, Child Support, and Property Settlement Agreement. At the time, the parties agreed that Mother would have primary custody of the minor child and Father would have visitation and would obligated to pay the monthly sums of \$800.00 in child support and \$400.00 in periodic alimony. Additionally, Father agreed to pay four (4) annual lump-sum alimony payments for the purpose of property division.

Thereafter, in November, 2007, Father sought emergency relief from the Chancery Court to address allegations made by the minor child that he had been subjected to multiple incidents of abuse and neglect by Mother immediately prior thereto. Concurrently, Father also sought permanent relief in the form of a custody modification, based upon the new allegations as well as other less-immediate circumstances.

A *guardian ad litem* was appointed, at Father's request, and a lengthy period of discovery and investigation ensued, during which time a Chancellor was appointed by the Mississippi Supreme Court to hear the case, following recusal of all elected Chancellors in the original jurisdiction. On October 30th and 31<sup>st</sup>, a trial was held before the Hon. Franklin McKenzie at the Harrison County Chancery Court in Gulfport, Mississippi.

The trial court made its ruling on the custody issue within minutes of the conclusion of evidence at trial. However, for unknown reasons, the rulings on all remaining issues were delayed until issuance of the Final Judgment on March 9, 2009, over four (4) months later. Notice of Appeal was timely filed by Father, whereafter the record was compiled and submitted, bringing the matter before this Court.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AT TRIAL

Appellant called multiple witnesses to substantiate certain allegations raised by Appellant in his Petition for Modification, in an effort to demonstrate a material change in circumstances adverse to the best interests of the minor child. Specifically, Appellant alleged that Appellee: had committed, and allowed others to commit, acts of neglect and/or abuse upon the minor child; had frequently and consistently cohabitated with her male companion in the presence of the minor child; had committed and been convicted of reckless driving with the child in the vehicle; had committed and been convicted of other misdemeanors, not in the presence of the child; had intentionally disrupted or inhibited contact between the minor child and Appellant; had moved some six times in the preceding five years, and had current plans to move yet again; had purposefully and maliciously attempted to poison the father-son relationship between the child and Appellant; and was currently romantically involved with a married male companion whom she had met via an internet sex/dating service.

Trial witnesses included a former boyfriend with whom Appellee had cohabitated, the victim of a physical assault committed by Appellee, the minor child, Appellant, Appellee, and the *Guardian ad Litem*. By way of testimony before the Court, particularly through admissions of Appellee, the truth of most of the allegations was ultimately undisputed, although the significance, extent, and causation for many of the underlying circumstances was.

Specifically, Appellee admitted to: cohabitation in the presence of the minor child; multiple changes of residence; interfering with communication between Appellant and the minor child; reckless driving with the minor child in the vehicle; other misdemeanor convictions; and being currently romantically involved with a married male companion, including the facts of how they became acquainted. Appellee denied committing or allowing instances of abuse or neglect upon the minor child. Appellee also denied the then-present intent to move her residence again, even though she did have her home listed for sale at the time of trial, and even though she did relocate to Destin, Florida, within thirty (30) days of the issuance of the Final Judgment.

The minor child testified that he had been instructed by Appellee to fabricate portions of his testimony before the court, that he had been subjected to certain acts of abuse and/or neglect at the hands of Appellee, and that Appellee intended to relocate to Florida in order to separate him from Appellant. The minor child further relayed to the *Guardian ad Litem* that he had been subjected to other acts of physical and verbal abuse by Appellee and others in her presence.

The Guardian ad Litem testified and submitted her report, the individual

findings of which largely mirrored the testimony of the minor child. However, the report cited and applied verbatim language from Mississippi case law, and detailed how the *Guardian ad Litem* had analyzed the findings of her investigation in the context of the legal standards in that case law. The recommendation to the trial court was expressly based upon the *GAL*'s application of legal standards, and not upon her reasonable opinion of the situation as it related to the best interests of the minor child. The recommendation at trial was to deny a change of custody, despite the fact that her recommendation only days before, expressed to counsel for both parties, had been to grant the change of custody.

Other testimony and documentary evidence included that from Appellant which detailed and substantiated a severe and unavoidable loss of income that was anticipated to continue indefinitely, this pertaining to the request by Appellant for a reduction in child support and/or alimony. This evidence was not disputed by Appellee, and documentation was provided by Appellant in support. Also regarding the issue of Appellant's requested termination of alimony, no testimony or other evidence whatsoever was presented by Appellee to demonstrate that there was no financial co-dependence between Appellee and her boyfriend for the period of months they cohabitated.

At the conclusion of the evidence, the trial court immediately rendered a

decision denying the modification of custody sought by Appellant, citing that there had not occurred a material change in circumstances, and that the trial court could not go against the recommendation of the *Guardian ad Litem* under the facts and circumstances in evidence at trial.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

The evidence at trial, particularly the admissions and inconsistencies in Appellee's testimony, was overwhelmingly sufficient to mandate a change in Many of the specific allegations, particularly ones admitted to by custody. Appellee, were identical to some that have been specifically and repeatedly found by the appellate courts to be of major significance in considering a change of custody. The trial court plainly failed to consider the totality of the circumstances of all facts in evidence, instead considering and analyzing each one in a bubble, apart from the others. This method of analysis is very clearly contrary to the lawful prescribed standard in custody modification cases. Further, the trial court incorrectly stated the weight that the court was required to give the recommendation of the Guardian ad Litem. These errors constituted an abuse of discretion, or at the very least resulted in a decision that was manifestly wrong and clearly erroneous, and against the great weight of the evidence at trial.

Further, the trial court accepted and arbitrarily ratified a report by the

*Guardian ad Litem*, where the author had applied the recognized legal standard for custody modification and reached her own *legal* conclusion under that standard. Thus, the scope, purpose, and duty of the *Guardian ad Litem* was greatly over-reached, in that she took it upon herself to conduct a legal analysis to reach a conclusion on a question of law, rather than simply consider the findings of her investigation and report those to the court along with her recommendation based solely thereupon. It is the purpose and duty of the courts, not witnesses, to apply law to facts and decide questions of law. Accordingly, the trial court's acceptance and ratification of the legal analysis conducted by a witness was improper, and constituted an abuse of discretion, or at the very least resulted or assisted in a decision that was clearly erroneous.

Next, the trial court committed clearly reversible error by not granting a termination of periodic alimony, where it was admitted and undisputed that cohabitation had occurred for a period of months, and where no evidence whatsoever was presented by Appellee to meet the shifted burden of proof to rebut the presumption of financial co-dependence. Not only did the trial court not grant the requested relief, there were no findings made by the court to indicate that the request for relief had even been considered thoroughly.

#### ARGUMENT I.

# THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY APPLYING THE WRONG LEGAL STANDARD, IN FAILING TO CONSIDER THE TOTALITY OF THE CIRCUMSTANCES WHEN REVIEWING EVIDENCE OF INSTANCES OF NEGLECT AND OTHER CONDUCT DETRIMENTAL TO THE BEST INTERESTS OF THE MINOR CHILD.

Consistent with the long-recognized standard for evaluation of custody modifications, significant and credible evidence was presented to demonstrate that there had occurred a material change in circumstances, adverse to the best interests of the child, and that modification was in the best interests of the child. *Gianarris v. Gianarris*, 960 So.2d 462 (Miss. 2007), *Robison v. Lanford*, 841 So.2d 1119 (Miss. 2003), *Riley v. Doerner*, 677 So.2d 740 (Miss. 1996).

This long-standing three-part test requires the trial court to find, by a preponderance of the evidence, first, that a material change in circumstances has occurred, and second, that such change is adverse to the best interest of the minor child. As for the evidence presented to demonstrate a material change in circumstances, it is *undisputed* and *admitted* in the record that Appellee engaged in multiple frequent relocations during a short period of time (TT. at 116); that C>3, b=1 so sc(a)(d)(d)(d)(d)(d)(d)(d)(d)(d)(d)(d)). Appellee engaged in a cohabitive romantic relationship with a man to whom she was not married in the presence of the child (TT. at 122); that she had been convicted at trial of multiple offenses (TT. at 126), including reckless driving during which the

child was in the vehicle (TT. at 124); that she had intentionally interfered with communication between the child and Appellant (TT. at 144); and that Appellee was currently engaged in a romantic relationship with a married man whom she had met via an internet site (TT. at 130). These facts by themselves should constitute sufficient cause for any reasonable court to conclude that a material change in circumstances had occurred.

It is arguable that certain of these events could independently form the basis

of a finding of material change in circumstances. However, it is immaterial whether any individual event or condition would meet this burden. The trial court is required to consider whether the change in circumstances is one in the overall living conditions in which the child is found. The totality of the circumstances must be considered. *Hill v. Hill*, 942 So.2d 207 (Miss. 2006), citing *Tucker v. Tucker*, 453 So.2d 1294 (Miss. 1984). The trial court may not consider each element and factor in a bubble, but must weigh them all together and make a determination in consideration of the totality of the circumstances. *Elliot v. Elliot*, 877 So.2d 450 (Miss.Ct.App. 2003)

*Hill* is exceptionally analogous to the instant case, in that many of the factors found by the Court to be significant in affirming the custody change are present in this case. Specifically, in *Hill*, custody was modified to the father after evidence showed that the mother had undertaken multiple relocations in a short period, cohabitated with a boyfriend, dated a married man, and engaged in domestic conflict resulting in criminal charges. The trial court found that, while these factors individually were likely insufficient by themselves to warrant a modification of custody, the totality of the circumstances did mandate such a change. Each and every significant factor in *Hill* is present in this case, and largely admitted by Appellee. Worse, the reckless driving that resulted from Appellee's domestic dispute was committed by her with the minor child in the vehicle. Moreover, there are multiple additional factors of Appellee's behavior to be considered herein, in addition to those found by the trial court in *Hill*, and later affirmed by this Court.

A material change in circumstances may be established where a custodial parent's relocation is one of several supporting factors. *Powell v. Powell*, 976 So.2d 358 (Miss.Ct.App. 2008), citing *Jernigan v. Jernigan*, 830 So.2d 651 (Miss.Ct.App. 2002), *Fletcher v. Shaw*, 800 So.2d 1212 (Miss.Ct.App. 2001). *Powell* is also analogous to the instant case, in that the mother was found to have had multiple relocations and also engaged in other conduct detrimental to the best interests of the child. The most significant issue found by the trial court was the relocations, which it did not deem sufficient to warrant modification. However, the appellate court reversed, finding that the trial court failed to consider the totality of the circumstances, including the relocations as one factor of many.

The trial court herein failed to consider the evidence at trial in the proper perspective of the totality of the circumstances. Rather, it is clear from the record that the trial court considered each item separately and not in conjunction with the presence or significance of other factors. For this reason alone, the evidence is clear that the decision was manifestly unjust and must be overturned.

It was argued by Appellee at trial that a modification was not warranted

because there had been no showing of actual harm or threat of immediate harm. However, the jurisprudence of the appellate courts has gradually refined the requirement for showing of adverse effects. Such proof is simply not required where it is reasonable to expect that harm may occur as a result of the offending parent's conduct. This Court has stated that a chancellor need not wait for the minor child to actually be injured before finding an adverse effect. Glissen v. Glissen, 910 So.2d 603 (Miss.Ct.App. 2005). The chancellor may satisfy the adverse effects finding...by finding reasonably foreseeable adverse events if the child continues in the adverse environment. Johnson v. Grav, 859 So.2d 1006 (Miss. 2003), Gilliland v. Gilliland, 984 So.2 364 (Miss.Ct.App. 2008), citing Riley. Where a child living in a custodial environment clearly adverse to the child's best interest, somehow appears to remain unscarred by his or her surroundings, the chancellor is not precluded from removing the child for placement in a healthier environment. Riley v. Doerner, 677 So2d 740 (Miss. 1996). Riley was an earlier statement of the rule that actual harm need not be shown under circumstances where harm is reasonably foreseeable. However, the Court did go further in delineating in even greater detail what may be acceptable to warrant a change of custody. Specifically, when the environment provided by the custodial parent is found to be adverse...and the non-custodial parent...is able to provide an environment more suitable...the chancellor may modify custody. *Id* at 744. *Duke v. Elmore*, 956 So.2d 244 (Miss.Ct.App. 2006). A child's resilience and ability to cope with difficult circumstances should not serve to shackle the child to an unhealthy home, especially when a healthier one beckons. *Id* at 744.

Adverse effects exist if it is shown that it is reasonably foreseeable that the child will suffer adverse effects... Savell v. Morrison, 929 So.2d 414 (Miss. 2006). In Savell, the trial court granted a modification of custody and was affirmed by the appellate court, after finding that the mother had engaged in denial of visitation and subjected the child to verbal abuse and threats. The decision was affirmed, despite the absence of any proof of actual harm having affected the child. Another case affirmed by this Court where no distinct harm was shown, but where material change in circumstances adverse to the child was found, included the specific allegations of cohabitation, frequent moves, and sporadic employment. The case now before this Court contains these issues and many more, some of dramatically more severity and importance. Finally, the appellate court affirmed a decision to grant a modification based largely on the child's having been pushed to be deceptive in his testimony, and where the mother had cohabitated with a married man in the presence of the child. Pruett v. Prinz, 2007-CA-00156-COA (Miss.Ct.App. 2008). This is yet another example of cases where modification was warranted, while including only one or two of the significant issues brought before the trial court herein.

Again, we are brought to the number and severity of factors influencing the analysis in the instant case. It is clear that a large number of events of similar conduct as found in the referenced cases are present in this case. These events and factors were not considered in their totality, but rather individually and separate from the implications of the others. The decision reached was very much contrary to the weight of the evidence presented, again, much of which was undisputed. To allow such an incomplete analysis and application of proper legal standard to stand would result in a manifest injustice and may likely result in substantial and irreparable harm to the minor child.

## **ARGUMENT II.**

# THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY NOT INDEPENDENTLY EVALUATING THE EVIDENCE UNDER THE APPLICABLE LEGAL STANDARD, INSTEAD ALLOWING A FLAWED ANALYSIS TO BE PERFORMED BY A WITNESS, WHICH INCLUDED DETERMINATION OF QUESTIONS OF LAW, AND THEN ARBITRARILY RATIFIED THAT ANALYSIS, THEREBY IMPROPERLY DELEGATING TRIAL COURT DUTIES TO A THIRD PARTY WITNESS.

In rendering her report and recommendation, the *guardian ad litem* conducted a lengthy investigation that included multiple conversations with all parties.

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