### SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2009-CA-00802

WILLIAM M. COVINGTON

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

CAROL MONTGOMERY

APPELLEE

# APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI, FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT CAUSE NO. C2401-03-02082-1 HONORABLE FRANKLIN MCKENZIE, PRESIDING TRIAL JUDGE

#### **BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED

#### ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE:

DEAN HOLLEMAN, MSE BOYCE HOLLEMAN & ASSOCIATES 1720—23<sup>rd</sup> Avenue-Boyce Holleman Blvd. Gulfport, MS 39501 (228) 863-3142 Telefax (228) 863-9829

## SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO. 2009-CA-00802

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In his Judgment, the chancellor below made a very detailed and careful review of the evidence presented at trial. Following the dictates of this Court, the chancellor then made a detailed analysis of the evidence and applied the evidence to the law. Tr.174-185. In Coggin v. Coggin, 837 So. 2d 772; 2003 Miss. App. LEXIS 64 (Miss.Ct.App., Feb. 11, 2003), this Court stated: "This Court will not substitute its judgment for that of the chancellor, even if this Court disagrees with the findings of fact and would arrive at a different conclusion." Id. The chancellor below applied the correct legal standard in denying William's request to change custody. Tr.175.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Carol and Myers dated from 2005 to mid 2007. (Tr.24,63)

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

In matters of domestic relations, the Mississippi Supreme Court's scope of review is limited by the substantial error/manifest evidence rule. Mizell v. Mizell, 708 So.2d 55 (Miss. 1998); See also Lawrence v. Lawrence, 574 So.2d 1376, 1382 (Miss. 1991) (holding that findings in support of child support rulings are reviewed under the manifest error/substantial). Thus, findings of a chancellor will not be disturbed unless the chancellor was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or an erroneous legal standard was applied. Id. (citing Bell v. Parker, 563 So.2d 594, 596-96 (Miss. 1990)). As established in the landmark Albright decision, which outlined the analysis for custody awards, "Polestar consideration in child custody cases is the best interest and welfare of the child." Albright v. Albright, 437 So.2d 1003 (1983). With this premise in mind, Mississippi courts have repeatedly emphasized the need for custodial finality and have sought to avoid unnecessary modification of custody awards. See Ballard v. Ballard, 434 So.2d 1357 (recognizing that uprooting a child from his or her environment can be a "jolting, traumatic experience"); Tucker v. Tucker, 453 So.2d 1294 (acknowledging that "children do not need to be bounced back and forth between their parent's life a volleyball..."). Further, "All courts must be consistent, diligent, and focused upon the requirement that only parental behavior that poses a clear danger to the child's mental or emotional health can justify a custody change." Giannaris v. Giannaris, 960 So.2d 462 (Miss. 2007) (citing Morrow v. Morrow, 591 So.2d 829, 833 (Miss. 1991)).

#### ARGUMENT

- 1. THE CHANCERY COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY DID NOT APPLY AN ERRONEOUS LEGAL STANDARD IN EVALUATING CUSTODY, AND THE COURT CONSIDERED THE TOTALITY OF THE CIRCUMSTANCES IN MAKING ITS DETERMINATION.
- II. THE CHANCERY COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY EVALUATED THE EVIDENCE UNDER THE APPLICABLE LEGAL STANDARD.

In making decisions regarding the modification of custody, "chancellors are charged with considering the totality of the circumstances." *Tucker*, 453 So.2d at 1297 (quoting *Kavanaugh v. Carraway*, 435 So.2d 697, 700 (Miss. 1983)); ("Before custody should be changed, the chancellor should find that the overall circumstances in which a child lives have materially changed and are likely to remain materially changed for the foreseeable future and that such change adverse impacts the child"). *Id.* For a non-custodial parent seeking modification of custody, he or she must satisfy the three-part test outlined in *Brawley*: (1) substantial change in circumstances of the custodial parent since the original custody decree, (2) substantial change's adverse impact on the welfare of the child, and (3) necessity of the custody modification for the best interest of the child. *Giannaris*, 960 So.2d at 468 (citing *Brawley v. Brawley*, 734 So.2d 237 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999)).

Consistent with the long-recognized standard for evaluation of custody modifications, no modification was warranted by the Chancellor. There was no significant and credible evidence in the record to demonstrate that a material change in circumstances which was adverse to the best interests of

Ryan had occurred since January 2005 when the divorce was final. William failed to fullfill the burden requiring him, as the non-custodial parent, to prove sufficiently a material change in the circumstances of Carol's home.

Furthermore, because William failed to prove a change in material circumstances of Carol's home, it was apparent that he also failed to prove an adverse effect such that posed a danger to Ryan's mental or emotional well-being.

William's argument relies primarily upon the Mississippi Supreme Court's decision in Hill, contending that it is "exceptionally analogous" to the instant case. However, the facts of Hill are actually very dissimilar from those involved in the current matter. While the Mississippi Supreme Court, in Hill did affirm the chancellor's decision to modify custody, the Court based its reasoning upon a plethora of facts in support of the chancellor's finding that a material change in circumstances had occurred which would likely have an adverse effect on the child. Hill v. Hill, 942 So.2d 207 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). In light of Mary Hill's involvement with multiple men since the divorce, her frequent moves, and her continued exhibition of reckless behavior and unnecessary risk-taking, the court believed that she was incapable of providing her son with a stable living environment. Id. at 212. Throughout the Hill's divorce and custody proceedings, Mary Hill was involved with at least five men, and had been arrested in connection with accusations that she was stalking her boyfriend's wife. Id. at 211. Since the couple's divorce, Mary had moved four times, and she had already been married, divorced and was planning to

remarry yet again at the time of trial. *Id.* Additionally, the chancellor found that Mary kept pornographic material in her home. *Id.* In light of all of these factors, and considering the totality of the circumstances aforementioned, the chancellor believed that the environment provided by Ms. Hill was not a stable living environment for her son, and the Supreme Court found no abuse of discretion in that holding. *Id.* 

Despite William's assertions that 'each and every significant factor' in *Hill* is present in the instant case, the situation involved in Hill is quite unlike the situation before us currently. While Mary Hill moved four times, and her son attended three different schools during his first three years of formal education in the instant case the chancellor here noted Carol had mainly lived in two homes: Jones Street (3/2005 to 7/2007) and Middlecoff (7/2007 to trial).

Tr.174-185. Additionally, Ryan has never been out of the neighborhood to which he is accustomed and he's remained at the same school. Tr. 179.

In attempting to provide further support for his assertions, William provides a number of Mississippi cases which involve a finding of adverse effects to support custody modification. However, the cases offered involve facts and circumstances substantially extreme in comparison to those argued by William in this matter: In *Johnson v. Gray*, custody was modified after evidence was presented that the custodial parent drank heavily, suffered from an anxiety disorder, depression, and also a nicotine dependency. *Johnson v. Gray*, 859 So.2d 1006 (Miss. 2003). Similarly, in *Riley*, the Court did allow for modification of custody prior to a showing of actual harm if such harm is

reasonably foreseeable, but the custodial parent frequently used drugs in the presence of the child and had a succession of boyfriends who also used drugs. *Riley v. Doerner*, 677 So.2d 740 (Miss. 1996).

Further, the chancellor's decision to modify custody in *Duke* was based upon the mother's cohabitation for ten months in a "barn" with a convicted felon combined with her sporadic employment, and her frequent moves. Duke v. Elmore, 956 So.2d 244 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). In Savell, the Supreme Court affirmed modification based upon evidence that the mother denied the father visitation and the stepfather's daily use of obscene language and threats of violence to the minor child, whereby he admitted his desires to "pepper her with paintballs and duct tape her to a chair." Savell v. Morrison, 929 So.2d 414, 418 (Miss. 2006). Further, in the Pruett case also cited by the Appellant, affirmation of the chancellor's decision to modify custody was based upon the Court's findings that the mother missed several visitation exchanges, allowed her daughter to sleep in the bedroom with her boyfriend for a period of years in the presence of the eight year old minor child, the minor child's exposure to bouts of fighting and domestic violence, the mother's cohabitation with a married man, and the mother's "coaching" her son to lie at trial regarding the specifics of her relationship. Pruett v. Prinz, 979 So.2d 745 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008). In light of the severity of the facts involved in the cases relied upon by William, it is difficult to understand his assertion that this case contains many more issues, some of dramatically more severity and importance.

A Court's burden of considering the totality of the circumstances in evaluating modification is undisputed. Contrary to William's assertion that the chancellor below failed to follow the dictates of this Court in making his ruling a review of the chancellor's bench ruling evidences the chancellor's consideration of the correct "standard" and his consideration of each and every allegation unsuccessfully proven by William. A few excerpts of the chancellor's ruling follows:

I agree the court has to look at the totality of the circumstances. Tr.174.

All right. The standard for modification of a child custody as acknowledged by all counsel is that whether there has been a material change in circumstances which adversely affects the welfare of the child and whether the best interest of the child requires a change of custody. Stated otherwise, a non-custodial parent must first sufficiently prove a material change in circumstances which has an adverse affect on the child that clearly causes danger to the mental or emotional well-being of the child. The Court is required to look at the totality of the circumstances. Tr.175-176.

I do not believe that a material and substantial change in circumstances has occurred which is adverse to the interest of the minor child and which poses a danger which is expected to continue. Tr.176.

The child is making extremely good grades at school in third grade and his asthma is apparently under control. His mother is very concerned about having a healthy environment for Ryan. This child is the center of the universe at his mother's home, and he is well-loved at his father's home, as well. Tr.176-177.

Carol Montgomery is a devoted mother who is attuned to being healthy and fit and thinking green. Tr.177.

Carol Montgomery has primary custody and I see no reason at this time to uproot the child. A change of custody is traumatic for a child and should not be done without good reason. Ryan is a well-groomed and well-dressed young boy. He seems to have a fine sense of self-worth and self-confidence. Your Guardian ad Litem believes that Ryan's needs are being met in his home with his mother. The fact that this little boy treasures his time with his dad and longs for manly pursuits is telling to

your GAL. Ryan's time with his dad is invaluable to the child and the combination of his relationships with both his parents can serve this child well if the parents can learn to work together for their son's sake. Carol Montgomery and Bill Covington are two very different individuals. Both have a great deal to offer Ryan, and the child needs both of his parents. Tr.176-177.

The chancellor went further in his ruling to address and dismiss each and every one of the eleven allegations made by William to support his request for a change in custody. Tr.179-185. In concluding the chancellor ruled: "Looking at the totality of the circumstances, this court cannot find that there has been a material change in circumstances which adversely affects the best interest of the child in which would warrant a modification of his primary physical custody". Tr.185.

Finally, William argues the chancellor improperly delegated its responsibilities to the *guardian ad litem*. Not only did the Guardian Ad Litem conduct a lengthy investigation and submit a thorough report to the chancellor she testified at trial after hearing the testimony of the witnesses. Tr.94-113; Exhibit 3, Ev.94. As set forth herein above, the Chancellor went to great lengths to carefully analyze each and every allegation made by William. Tr.175-185. To suggest the chancellor utilized the Guardian Ad Litem's report in lieu of fulfilling his own duties is preposterous.

In reviewing the evidence submitted and in determining whether such a change existed, the chancellor was required to consider the totality of the circumstances. He did just that, and his ruling can suggest nothing to the

contrary, as he offers findings upon each and every allegation made. The Chancellor's ruling denying a change in custody should be affirmed.

# III. THE CHANCERY COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANT'S REQUEST TO TERMINATE PERIODIC ALIMONY.

The testimony showed that after Hurricane Katrina devastated the Mississippi Gulf Coast on August 29, 2005, Carol's boyfriend, Kenny Myers, was forced to leave his damaged residence and reside at Carol's home for some four to five months until his home was repaired. Tr.65-68. There was no proof offered that Kenny 'cohabitated' and/or 'resided' at Carol's home for any other reasons than Hurricane Katrina's onslaught and Kenny's attempt to rebuild his home. There was no evidence offered that Carol and Kenny share finances or that one supported the other. Scharwath v. Scharwath, 702 So.2d 1210, 1211 (Miss. 1997).

Furthermore, despite William's reliance on *Rester*, the facts are actually quite distinguishable. Beth Rester admitted that she and her boyfriend cohabitated, testifying that her boyfriend actually <u>moved into her residence</u> in December 2004, some eight months <u>prior</u> to Hurricane Katrina. *Rester v. Rester*, 5 So.3d 1132 1135 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009). She offered testimony which demonstrated an overwhelming presence of mutual support, including admissions that Beth's boyfriend listed Beth's address as his residence on tax receipts that the couple contributed jointly to the purchase of groceries, that he regularly gave her money, and that the couple performed work on the home

together and bought materials together to make such repairs. *Id.* at 1136-1137. As was reflected in testimony offered by Ryan Montgomery, Carol Montgomery, and Kenny Myers, such was not the case in the current matter. As the Appellant failed to prove that Carol Montgomery did cohabitate, he was also unable to prove that any material change in circumstances had taken place. Carol was not required to overcome a presumption of mutual support. The refusal of the trial court to terminate the alimony obligation was proper, and the decision as to this issue should be affirmed.

#### CONCLUSION

In summary, in arriving at his result the Chancellor applied the appropriate legal standards and carefully analyzed the evidence. The result is supported by substantial evidence and it cannot be said that the Chancellor was manifestly wrong. Carol requests this Court affirm the Chancellor's denial of modification of custody in this matter and his refusal to modify and/or eliminate William's obligation to pay periodic alimony.